#### IN THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL FIRST DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

GARY BOWLES,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. 89,261

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

#### ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR DUVAL COUNTY, FLORIDA

## **INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

NANCY A. DANIELS PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

DAVID A. DAVIS ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE SUITE 401 301 SOUTH MONROE STREET TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301 (904) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT FLA. BAR NO. 271543

####

## PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Gary Bowles is the Appellant in this capital case. He pled guilty to one count of first degree murder, so the issues in this appeal concern only the appropriateness of the death sentence he received. The record on appeal consists of 11 volumes.

#### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

An indictment filed in the Circuit Court for Duval County on December 8, 1994 charged the Appellant, Gary Ray Bowles, with one count of first degree murder and one count of robbery with a deadly weapon (1 R 1-2). He pled not guilty to those offenses (3 R 486), and he and the State filed the following notices or motions relevant to this appeal:

Motion to Prohibit instruction on aggravating factors 5(h) and (i) (1 R
 99). Denied (1 R 102).

 Motion to declare section 921.141(5)(i) Florida Statutes unconstitutional (1 R 110). Denied (1 R 137).

3. Motion to declare section 921.141(5)(d) unconstitutional (1 R 138). Denied (1 R 137).

Bowles later pled guilty to the murder, and the court accepted that plea (2 R 289, 4 R 597). As to the robbery charge, it did nothing at that time (5 R 810-11).

Bowles proceeded to the sentencing phase portion of his trial, and the empaneled jury heard evidence of how the murder was done and other evidence to aggravate the murder. Bowles then presented his case for mitigation, after which both sides made their arguments concerning the sentence, and the court instructed the jury on the appropriate law.

The jury recommended death by a vote of 10-2, and the court followed that verdict. In sentencing Bowles to death, the court found in aggravation:

1. The defendant had a previous conviction of a felony involving the use or threat of violence to some person.

2. The capital felony was committed by a person on probation. Merged with the previous conviction aggravator.

3. The defendant attempted to rob the victim.

4. The capital felony was committed for financial gain. Merged with the attempted robbery aggravator.

5. The murder was especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel.

#### (III R 455-57)

In mitigation, the court found Bowles:

- 1. has a serious substance abuse problem. Significant weight.
- 2. was abused physically and emotionally by two stepfathers. Some weight.
- 3. lived in an abusive, violent home-Significant weight.
- 4. never had a positive male role model in his life. Some weight.
- 5. never finished junior high school. Little weight.

6. helped the Tampa Sheriff's Office obtain a conviction of a person who had committed a sexual battery. Some weight.

7. confessed to the police and FBI. Some weight.

8. pled guilty. Little weight

This appeal follows.

#### **STATEMENT OF THE FACTS**

Gary Bowles<sup>1</sup>, a homeless alcoholic, met Walter Hinton sometime in the latter part of October 1994 at a pier in Jacksonville Beach (9 T 1006). Hinton asked the Defendant to help him move some items he had in Georgia to his trailer in Jacksonville, and in return, he would let Bowles live there for a while (9 T 1007). He agreed and provided the assistance, and for a few weeks lived with Hinton (9 T 1007).

Sometime in the middle part of November, Hinton also let a woman known as Sharon Ann or Jo Ann stay with him. The trio seemed to live together well enough until Bowles made some sexual advances on Sharon that Hinton resented (9 T 1007-1008). He told the Defendant to leave, and Bowles left the trailer (9 T 1008). He was arrested the next day for being drunk, but was released from jail on Monday November 14 (9 T 1017). Although mad at Hinton for getting him taken into custody, he made up with him enough that Hinton allowed the Defendant to stay in the trailer until the end of the month (9 T 924, 928, 1017).

Two days later, Hinton brought home a man named Rick, and the trio smoked some marijuana and drank beer. They partied until Rick had to leave to catch a train, but even on the way to the station and while in its parking lot, the men drank beer and smoked the weed (10 T 1080, 1132). After leaving, Hinton and Bowles (who was very drunk (10 T 1133)) returned to the trailer. Hinton went to sleep, but the Defendant stayed up drinking as much as six "quart Magnum beers." (9 T 1017, 10 T 1080)

Something "snapped inside" Bowles, and he left the trailer, picked up a 40 or 50 pound concrete block and returned (9 T 873, 876). He put it on the table for a few minutes then went into Hinton's bedroom, raised the stone above him, and dropped it on his head. The block hit Hinton's face and fractured it (9 T 910). Bowles strangled Hinton who was struggling a little (9 T 919). He probably became unconscious within 30

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>At the time of the murder Bowles was calling himself Timothy Whitfield, and had identification with that name on it (9 (T 1012).

seconds and died 30-45 minutes later (9 T 911). At some point - the Medical Examiner could not say when (9 T 916) - toilet paper was stuffed down his throat and a rag was put into his mouth (9 T 1017). The Defendant then covered the body with a sheet and left, driving the victim's car and wearing his watch. Some other items may have been taken, and Bowles looked for money, but found none (9 T 948, 951, 10 T 1081)

Hinton died from asphysiation (9 T 900, 910).

After the death, Bowles picked up a Ginger Moye, another street person who had known him for a couple of years. During that time, she almost always saw him either drinking, drunk, or "staggering drunk" regardless of whether it was 7 a.m. or 2 a.m. (9 T 937).

She was sick and needed a place to stay, so they returned to Hinton's trailer and lived there for a couple of days (9 T 945, 954). Bowles then stayed at a motel on the beach, and he was arrested about a week after the murder at "Ameri-force" labor pool (9 T 965, 971). When questioned, although shaking from what "he called the DTs," he admitted killing Hinton (10 T 1082).

Bowles was born in 1962, and his mother was 15 or 16 years old at the time (10 T 1143). Until she married Bill Fields, and even for a few years afterward, life was OK, and her marriage was good (10 T 1146). Standing six feet tall, weighing about 210 pounds, and having a "nice build" Fields, in time, became "really abusive" to Bowles and his older brother, Frank (10 T 1145-47). He was a very strict disciplinarian, beating the boys with belts, fist, or "whatever he took a notion to hit them with." (10 T 1147) Bowles, who was six or eight when the beatings started (10 T 1176) had bruises on his face, and welts on his legs. Fields would throw him against a wall (10 T 1147), and would stop only when he got tired. "He seemed to enjoy it." (10 T 1176). When his mother tried to stop her husband, he turned on her. He was, as she said "a little bit uncontrollable." (10 T 1149)

She eventually divorced him and married Chet Hodges in 1978. If possible, he was more abusive than her previous husband. "He didn't care where he threw you, or where he hit you." (10 T 1153) He put Bowles' mother in the hospital three times (10 T 1152).<sup>2</sup> Chet was also an alcoholic and would drink from sunup until he went to bed. Bowles' mother also drank heavily (10 T 1181).

Bowles tried to escape the beatings his step fathers enjoyed inflicting. When he was a small child, he hid in the garage or went to friends' homes (10 T 1154). Later, starting when he was eight or nine, or maybe it was 10 or 11, he began drinking beer, sniffing glue, sniffing paint, and smoking marijuana (10 T 1150, 1177-78).

By the time Bowles was 12, he was "uncontrollable." (10 T 1164-65) He had some counseling in school, but he dropped out when he was in the 8th grade (10 T 115). He left home when he was 13, after being beaten and rejected by his mother (1- T 1157-58). Indeed, since Bowles was 11 years old, she has had little contact with him (10 T 1162).

Now on the streets, Bowles had only his body to use to get food, shelter, and money. He began "hustling gays," although he hated having sex with them (9 T 1020, 10 T 1067, 1101). He continued to drink, and in 1982, he was living with his girlfriend of two months who was also a prostitute. One night, while both of them were drunk, he beat her up badly and sexually battered her (10 T 1085, 1094, 1098). He was convicted of aggravated battery and sexual battery and sent to prison (10 T 1096). In 1991 he ran into another woman he had known years earlier, and after they had had a few drinks and she was leaving her car, he pushed her down and took some money from her purse (10 T 1106). She told him she was going to call the police, which she did, and they arrested him a short time later (10 T 1106). He was found guilty of strong armed robbery (10 T 1108-1109).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>On returning from the hospital one time, "Chet was there, and he was drinking and beating the kids, and I just couldn't handle it. And I took a bunch of pills." (10 T 1155)

William Hinton was a homosexual, but Bowles never had any sex with him (9 T 928, 10 T 1078).

#### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENTS**

Bowles presents ten penalty phase arguments for this court to consider. The first two deal with the homosexuality theme the State introduced and emphasized, starting with its opening statement through its sentencing memorandum. The victim's sexual orientation and Bowles' "hustling" of gays had no relevance to this case, yet the state, over repeated Defense objections, introduced and stressed them. Making sexual orientation a feature of this sentencing trial made "hate crimes" an un enumerated aggravator that the jury could use to justify its death recommendation. The evidence only destroyed Bowles' character, something he had not introduced. Because the State repeatedly emphasized and argued this aspect of the case, it became a feature of the trial, but one that only unfairly prejudiced Bowles.

Continuing this theme, the court sustained objections to testimony from State witnesses that Bowles was "rolling fagots" when he lived in Daytona Beach, and "he drank to make it easier to kill." This evidence implied he had committed other violent crimes, and though the court sustained his objections, the curative instructions were either too anemic or ineffective to erase the deep stain such evidence inevitably leaves.

Bowles presented extensive proof of his extraordinarily abusive childhood that directly or indirectly led to his life as a drunken, homeless man who had made a living by "hustling gays." He also showed that on the day of the murder, and at most, only an hour or two before the homicide, he had drunk at least a gallon of beer and smoked marijuana. Despite this evidence, the court refused to find the statutory mental mitigators that he had committed the murder while his capacity to appreciate the criminality of his conduct was substantially impaired, and he was under the influence of an extreme mental or emotional disturbance. He presented testimony to support finding both mitigators, and the State presented nothing to rebut or contradict them. In such instances, the court had no discretion, but had to find these two statutory mitigators. (ISSUE III)

The court found that Bowles committed the murder during the course of an attempted robbery and for pecuniary gain. Recognizing the doubling problem, it merged those aggravators, but it erred in finding Bowles had any motive to kill to take Hinton's money or property. He abandoned the victim's car, but more significantly, no evidence rebuts his hypothesis that what he took from Hinton occurred as an afterthought to the murder. Indeed, whatever plan he had arose because something "snapped" inside the Defendant. The State presented no evidence he murdered the victim to take his property from him. (ISSUE IV)

While Bowles strangled Hinton, and he died from asphyxiation, the murder was not especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel, contrary to the court's finding. Unlike most strangulation killings in which the aggravator presumptively applies, this one did not have a victim who had any prolonged awareness of his impending death. He was asleep when Bowles started his attack, and Hinton quickly lost consciousness. His struggling was feeble and for a short time. His death was not especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel. (ISSUE V)

The trial judge explicitly refused to consider Bowles' mental condition as it affected his ability to commit the murder in an especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel manner. While this court has approved that limitation on the use of mitigation it should re-examine that position. If strangulation murders are presumptively HAC, that conclusion becomes irrebuttable if the Defendant cannot, as a matter of law, present evidence this court in <u>State v. Dixon</u>, 283 So. 2d 1 (Fla. 1972), impliedly said can mitigate that aggravation. (ISSUE VI)

If this court agrees that the court improperly found the murder to have been especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel, and for a pecuniary gain motive, then only one uncontested aggravator remains: that Bowles has prior convictions for violent felonies. But that aggravating factor fails to distinguish this case from the "hundreds of capital felonies" this court has reviewed since the 1970's. Additionally, Bowles presented

significant mitigation, and argued the court should have found the two statutory mental mitigators. Taken together, these arguments, and the evidence supporting them, as well as the facts relied on by the State, show that death is proportionately unwarranted in this case. (ISSUE VII)

Even though the new instruction on the HAC aggravator has won this court's approval significant constitutional problems remain. (ISSUE VIII)

The court read the jury the revised instruction on the cold, calculated, and premeditated aggravating factor, but the definition of premeditation it read has significant constitutional infirmities. (ISSUE IX)

The court found that Bowles had committed the murder during the course of an attempted robbery, but it could not constitutionally do so because that felony also underlay the murder conviction. In short, the felony murder aggravator does nothing to narrow the scope of those who could receive a death sentence, and for that reason is unconstitutional. (ISSUE X)

#### ARGUMENT

#### ISSUE I

#### THE COURT ERRED IN ALLOWING THE STATE TO MAKE REPEATED REFERENCES TO AND INTRODUCE EVIDENCE OF THE VICTIM'S HOMOSEXUALITY AND THE DEFENDANT'S HUSTLING OF GAY MEN WHEN SUCH COMMENTS AND EVIDENCE HAD NO RELEVANCE TO THE PROPER DETERMINATION OF THE SENTENCE THE JURY HAD TO RECOMMEND, A VIOLATION OF BOWLES' FIFTH, EIGHTH, AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT RIGHTS.

The theme that runs through the State's case focussed not so much on the

aggravating and mitigating circumstances articulated in section 921.141, Florida Statutes (1995), but in Mr. Hinton's sexual orientation and Bowles' "hustling" of homosexuals. In the opening paragraph of the State's closing argument, it announced its intention of making hate crime<sup>3</sup> an unenumerated aggravator:

May it please the Court, Counsel. Good afternoon. Walter Jammell Hinton is dead. He died at the hands of this man right there He died because he was a caring person, allowing strangers to live in his home. <u>And I would submit to you that he died because he was a homosexual.</u>

(11 T 1263) (Emphasis supplied.)

Bowles, anticipating this focus, filed pre-trial motions seeking to prevent the State from raising Hinton's sexual proclivities (2 R 340). The court, for example, granted his request that Timothy Daly, a prospective state witness, reported that the Defendant told him he had "killed six gay men." (2 R 340, 342) The court also granted his motions in limine seeking to prohibit evidence he may have killed other men because they were homosexual (4 R 730, 2 R 386-87).

Undeterred, the State raised the sexual orientation issue in its opening statement:

Mr. Hinton was a homosexual. And the defendant didn't like homosexuals. In fact, the defendant had two former

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Section 775.085 enhances "the penalty for any felony or misdemeanor . . . if the commission of such misdemeanor evidences prejudice based on . . . sexual orientation. . . of the victim.

girlfriends in the past who left him because of the defendant's lifestyle.

MR. WHITE [Defense Counsel]: Objection, Your Honor. . . . I would object and move for a mistrial. We don't believe that is evidence that will come in this case properly . . . . I think that we have some motions pending concerning statements that the defendant made concerning whether he liked or disliked homosexuals. This is the type of evidence that the Court has not made a final ruling on. And to bring it in at this point it prejudices the defendant in a way that he can't defend against if the testimony is kept out at a later time. We would, therefore, move for mistrial.

THE COURT: The motion for mistrial will be denied.

#### (8 R 802-804)

During its case in chief, the State continued the homosexual theme. The prosecutor asked Hinton's housekeeper, "Were you aware that Mr. Hinton was homosexual?" To which she not only said she was, but significantly that Hinton and the Defendant had no "relationship" that she was aware of (9 T 928).

The key witness, however, was a Detective Collins who testified about what Bowles had told a Ms. Pearson after she had had an abortion of Bowles' baby. According to the police officer the Defendant had told her that "he felt that homosexuals were responsible for the loss of the baby, and that they had ruined his life with women."  $(9 \text{ T } 1032)^4$  She also broke up with him because he was hustling gays (9 T 1033). As Bowles brought out, however, that had occurred in 1985, 11 years earlier (9 T 1037), and that sentiment had no connection with the killing of Mr. Hinton." (9 T 1038) Yet, on redirect, Detective Collins reiterated that Bowles blamed homosexuals for killing his baby (9 T 1038).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>The State also wanted Collins to tell the jury about another woman that had left Bowles because he hustled gay men. Bowles, wanting to prove his love for her, told her he would kill for her (9 T 1021-23). The court excluded that hearsay because the State had not laid the required predicate (9 R 1031). Regarding the hearsay of Ms. Pearson, the judge told the prosecutor, "I want it to be very brief." (9 T 1032)

The prosecution's next witness, a Timothy Daly, then told the jury that Bowles had admitted he was "rolling fagots" in Daytona (9 T 1046). The court sustained the Defendant's objection to that comment. Undeterred, the prosecutor pursued the homosexual theme with FBI agent Dennis Regan who testified that although Bowles hustled men, he disliked it and denied being homosexual (10 T 1067-68). Regan, as the housekeeper had done, also said Bowles and Hinton had had no sexual relations (910 T 1078).

Wanting to keep its homosexual theme before the jury, the prosecutor asked one of its last witnesses, on redirect, what the "defendant's occupation was" to which he responded, "he was a hustler." (10 T 1100-1101)

Then, the State opened its closing argument with its homosexual comment, and it focussed on that orientation in justifying finding Bowles' comment the murder in a cold, calculated, and premeditated manner:

What did he say? It's not in the written statement, but he was asked by both FBI agent Mr. Regan, and by Detective Collins. He hated homosexuals. And you may think well, you know, if he hates homosexuals, what is he doing with a person who is a homosexual? In this case, the victim. I'm sorry to be talking about him that way, about the victim. But that's reality.

Well, he was a hustler, as you will recall, which means he basically hustled men. Now, there is no evidence in this case that he had sex with the victim or that the victim had sex with him.

You will recall that hatred that he had. Do you recall how he blamed homosexual men because of the abortion of his child? Why is that relevant? Because in his mind they were responsible for the death of his child in that the former girlfriend, who had his child, didn't want him hustling men anymore. And she left him and she had an abortion. And in his mind they were responsible.

Because of the victim's lifestyle does this mean he should be killed? I asked you that in jury selection. I'm not trying to imply anything in the sense of-- in any way that you should think about homosexuals. I don't care what a person's views

are about that. He is a human being. Do you think because he has a certain lifestyle--that doesn't mean he should get killed. Because where do we stop? What do we say about people because of the color of their skin, or how much they weigh or how tall they are. I mean, where would it stop?

### (11 T 1289)

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