IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

GARY BOWLES,

Appellant,

v. CASE NO. 89,261

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR DUVAL COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

RICHARD B. MARTELL CHIEF, CAPITAL APPEALS FLORIDA BAR NO. 300179

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (850) 414-3579

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

Issue VI

DENIAL OF APPELLANT'S REQUESTED JURY INSTRUCTION REGARDING THE HAC AGGRAVATING FACTOR WAS NOT ERROR

As his next claim, Bowles contends that his death sentence should be vacated because the court below denied his requested jury instruction to the effect that the State was required to prove that Bowles had intended and desired to murder the victim in an outrageously depraved and especially painful manner. Appellant maintains that this instruction was necessary because, without it,

the jury would not have had an adequate vehicle to consider his alleged intoxication at the time of the offense, and particularly how his "diminished capacity" could prevent his ability to form the requisite mental state for this aggravating circumstance. Despite opposing counsel's vehemence on this subject, it is clear that reversible error has not been demonstrated.

Defense counsel below did indeed request an additional jury instruction to the effect quoted by Bowles (RII 374), and, after hearing argument of counsel (RV 919-921), the circuit court denied the request, instead instructing the jury in accordance with the standard instruction approved by this Court in Hall v. State, 614 So.2d 473, 478 (Fla. 1993) (RXI 1352). Defense counsel below, however, never contended that this particular instruction was necessary in order to allow the jury to fully consider mitigation, and Appellee would contend that this portion of Appellant's argument on appeal is procedurally barred. See, e.g., Terry, supra; Steinhorst, supra; Rodriguez v. State, 609 So.2d 493, 499 (Fla. 1992) (the specific legal ground upon which a claim is based must be raised at trial and a claim different from that raised will not be heard on appeal); Bertolotti v. State, 565 So.2d 1343, 1345 (Fla. 1990) (same). Additionally, it is axiomatic that the trial court does not err in denying a proposed instruction which does not accurately state the law. As this Court held in Orme, supra, in rejecting a comparable claim of error, a defendant's mental state "figures into" the sentencing equation solely as a mitigating

factor, as opposed to a basis for rejecting an aggravating See, e.g., Michael v. State, 437 So.2d at 142 (a circumstance. defendant's mental or emotional problems do not affect application or applicability of the HAC aggravating factor, but rather the weight afforded to it); Spencer v. State, 691 So.2d 1062, 1064 (Fla. 1996) (no merit to defendant's claim that his mental impairments negated any intent to inflict pain or suffering upon the victim, so as to preclude application of the aggravating factor). Further, despite the absence of the specific requested jury instruction, defense counsel did argue to the jury that this aggravating factor was inapplicable due at least in part to Bowles' intoxication (RXI 1321-1328), and the jury was told that they could consider in mitigation any factor "in the defendant's background that would mitigate against imposition of the death penalty." (RXI 1354). As argued in Point III, infra, the sentencing judge fully considered all proffered mitigation. No relief is warranted as to this claim, and the instant sentence of death should be affirmed in all respects.

Issue VII

THE INSTANT SENTENCE OF DEATH IS PROPORTIONATE

Bowles next contends that his sentence of death is disproportionate, and states that, when this Court reviews the instant sentence, it should look to its "alcoholic haze genre" of

precedents (Initial Brief at 46), as the most persuasive. For analogy, Appellant cites to Voorhees v. State, 22 Fla.L.Weekly S357 (Fla. June 19, 1997), Sager v. State, 22 Fla.L.Weekly S381 (Fla. June 26, 1997), Kramer v. State, 619 So. 2d 274 (Fla. 1993), Nibert, supra, Knowles, supra, and White v. State, 616 So. 2d 21 (Fla. 1993), and maintains that this case is simply one involving a "lifelong alcoholic" who murdered "his drinking buddy and benefactor," additionally contending that "the uncontradicted evidence shows Bowles and Hinton as being intoxicated." (Initial Brief at 49, 47, n.7). Because, in Appellant's view only one aggravating circumstance exists, and allegedy substantial mitigation, the death sentence should be vacated. Appellant's arguments are simply untenable, and the cases he relies upon are clearly distinguishable.

As previously demonstrated, this is not a "single aggravator" case. Bowles murdered his own unlucky "benefactor," so that he could steal various items which he coveted, i.e., Hinton's Rolex watch, his Cadillac, his stereo and whatever cash he happened to possess, and Appellant murdered this benefactor in a particularly cold-blooded and pitiless fashion; Bowles smashed the victim's face with a 40 to 50 pound cement block, and then manually strangled him as he struggled for his life, ultimately shoving toilet paper and a rag down his throat. Further, this was not Bowles' first crime of violence; in 1982, he brutally beat and sexually assaulted a

woman with whom he had been living, and a witness testified to having seen bruises around her neck "where you could see finger impressions." (RX 1085). In contrast to the cases cited by Bowles, this was not a murder which occurred "spontaneously" "for no discernable reason," see Kramer, supra. Rather, it was one which occurred for purposes of pecuniary gain (Bowles having stated he had "expected" to find money on the victim), and, likewise, according to Bowles' own statement, the defendant "thought for a moment" before he initiated the murderous attack with the stepping stone. The aggravation in this case is considerable, to say the least.

By contrast, the mitigation is not, and opposing counsel grossly overstates any evidence presented as to the intoxication of either the defendant or the victim. As to the latter, the most that can be said is that the victim joined Appellant and Richard Smith in smoking two to three "joints" between 6:00 p.m. and 7:45 p.m., on Wednesday night (RX 1132); Smith expressly testified that Hinton did not consume any alcohol at this point, and Bowles never offered any testimony to this effect (RX 1139). Thus, evidence of the victim's "intoxication" is hardly "uncontroverted," and this case is clearly distinguishable from those in which evidence has been presented as to the victim's blood alcohol level. See, e.g., Voorhees (victim had .24 blood alcohol level); Sager (same); Kramer (victim had .23 blood alcohol level). As to Bowles himself, the only evidence presented below was Smith's testimony that, when he

last saw Appellant at 7:45 p.m., he had been "drunk" but "coherent" (RX 1133-1134), and Bowles' own statements that, after returning to the trailer, he had consumed additional beer (RIX 1018; RX 1080). Significantly, Appellant himself never offered any statement to the effect that he had been intoxicated at the time of the murder, cf. <u>Voorhees</u> (defendant makes statement that he was "pretty drunk"), nor did the defense present any expert testimony concerning Bowles' alleged intoxication at the time of the crime and/or longstanding substance abuse problem. Cf. Nibert (expert testimony presented that statutory mitigating circumstance existed due to defendant's alcohol use); White (expert testimony presented concerning defendant's problems with cocaine and marijuana); (expert testimony presented concerning defendant's Knowles neurological impairments and intoxication). It should be noted that defense counsel sub judice asked for, and received, the appointment of a mental health expert, Dr. Elizabeth McMahon, but chose not to utilize her testimony (RI 20-21; RIII 495-497). As previously argued, Bowles' purposeful conduct at the time of the murder is inconsistent with any claim of intoxication, see Johnson, supra, and this Court has rejected claims of disproportionality in cases in which significantly more substantial evidence has been presented regarding the alleged intoxication of the defendant, <u>See</u>, <u>e.g.</u>, <u>Merck v. State</u>, 664 So.2d 939, 943 victim or both. (Fla. 1995) (death penalty not disproportionate in case in which defendant stabbed victim, despite evidence that both had been intoxicated); Whitton v. State, 649 So.2d 861, 867 (Fla. 1994) (death penalty not disproportionate, despite victim's blood alcohol level of .34, where defendant beat and stabbed victim to death and defendant's alcoholism was found as nonstatutory mitigation).

While Appellee continues to question whether it was ever demonstrated that, as opposing counsel represents, Bowles was a "lifelong alcoholic," it must be noted that the sentencing judge did in fact find as nonstatutory mitigation Bowles' substance abuse problems, and specifically afforded weight to them (RIII 460-462); it should further be noted that Bowles' mother testified that she had only seen him intoxicated once (RX 1163), and that the only testimony presented concerning Bowles' drug or alcohol use between the time he left home at thirteen and the time that he committed the instant murder at age thirty-two, was that from Ginger Moye who did not meet him until 1992 (RIX 934). The most significant mitigation sub judice was that found by the sentencer below, relating to Bowles' unhappy early life and the abuse which he suffered at the hands of his stepfathers; the trial court also found as nonstatutory mitigation Bowles' assistance in the prosecution of a prison rape, as well as his confession and plea of guilty in this case (RIII 467-468). Although the judge afforded weight to testimony concerning Bowles' early life, he did note that Bowles' mother and brother had "overstated" the amount of abuse and violence in the home, and further observed that Appellant's own "uncontrollable conduct may have sparked some of the violence and abuse." (RIII 464); for all intents and purposes Appellant's mother and brother had not seen him since he left home in 1975 at age thirteen (RX 1157, 1162, 1184).

In light of the significant aggravating circumstances found in this case, no reasonable sentencer would have imposed a life sentence, and death is the proportionate and appropriate penalty. See, e.g., Lawrence v. State, 22 Fla.L.Weekly S524, 525 (Fla. August 28, 1997) (death penalty proportionate, in light of three strong aggravating circumstances, which outweighed nonstatutory mitigation); Kimbrough v. State, 22 Fla.L. Weekly S510 (Fla. August 21, 1997) (death penalty proportionate where three aggravating circumstances outweighed nonstatutory mitigation relating defendant's unstable childhood and alcoholic father); Johnson v. State, 660 So.2d 637, 648 (Fla. 1995) (death penalty proportionate where three strong aggravators outweighed fifteen nonstatutory mitigators); Finney, 660 So.2d at 685 (same, where five nonstatutory mitigators found). Finally, this case is factually comparable to Castro v. State, 644 So.2d 987 (Fla. 1994), in which the defendant, who had previously been convicted of a crime of violence and apparently was also a heavy drinker, murdered the victim, through strangulation, so that he could steal his car, as well as to Gorby v. State, 630 So.2d 544 (Fla. 1993), in which the defendant, who had a prior conviction for a crime of violence and

who was on parole, beat to death the elderly gentlemen who had befriended him, so that he could steal his car and possessions. Reversible error has not been demonstrated, and the instant sentence of death should be affirmed in all respects.

Issue VIII

THE CIRCUIT COURT DID NOT ERR IN UTILIZING FLORIDA'S STANDARD JURY INSTRUCTION ON THE HEINOUS, ATROCIOUS OR CRUEL AGGRAVATING CIRCUMSTANCE

Bowles next contends that his sentence of death must be reversed, because the trial court utilized the current standard jury instruction on the heinous, atrocious or cruel aggravating circumstance. Although Appellant concedes that the instruction sub judice, is identical to that approved by this Court in Hall, supra (Initial Brief at 50), he nevertheless contends that this Court should reconsider the issue. Appellee disagrees, and would maintain that Appellant has failed to demonstrate any reason why this Court should recede from Hall.

In the years since <u>Hall</u> has been decided, this Court has consistently adhered to its conclusion that the current standard jury instruction on this aggravating circumstance is not violative of <u>Espinosa v. Florida</u>, 505 U.S. 112, 112 S.Ct. 2926, 120 L.Ed.2d 854 (1992), or <u>Shell v. Mississippi</u>, 498 U.S. 1, 111 S.Ct.313, 112 L.Ed.2d 1 (1990). <u>See</u>, <u>e.g.</u>, <u>Walker</u>, 22 Fla.L.Weekly at S543; <u>Rolling v. State</u>, 695 So.2d 278, 296-297 (Fla. 1997); <u>Merck v. State</u>, 664 So.2d at 943; <u>Bogle</u>, 655 So.2d at 1109. Appellant has failed to demonstrate that all of the above precedents were wrongly decided, and under the facts of this case, <u>see</u> Point V, *infra*, it is clear that any deficiency in this jury instruction would be harmless under State v. DiGuilio, 491 So.2d 1129 (Fla. 1986), and

Sochor v. Florida, 504 U.S. 527, 112 S.Ct. 2114, 119 L.Ed.2d 346 (1992), as this murder was truly heinous, atrocious or cruel "under any definition." Cf. Thompson v. State, 619 So.2d 261, 267 (Fla. 1993). No relief is warranted as to this claim, and the instant sentence of death should be affirmed in all respects.

<u>Issue IX</u>

THE CIRCUIT COURT DID NOT ERR IN UTILIZING FLORIDA'S STANDARD JURY INSTRUCTION ON THE COLD, CALCULATED AND PREMEDITATED AGGRAVATING CIRCUMSTANCE

Bowles next contends that his sentence of death must be reversed because the judge below instructed the jury on the definition of the CCP aggravating factor in accordance with this Court's decision, <u>Jackson v. State</u>, 648 So.2d 85, 95, n.8 (Fla. 1994), which, according to opposing counsel, is "unconstitutionally vague and misleading." (Initial Brief at 54). Appellant specifically maintains that the definition of "heightened premeditation" promulgated by this Court is "meaningless" (<u>id</u>. at 55), and states that he is entitled to a new sentencing proceeding. Appellee disagrees.

The State initially contends that this claim is not preserved for appellate review. Although Bowles filed a pretrial motion requesting that the jury not be instructed on this aggravating factor, he made no specific attack upon the standard jury instruction at that time (RI 99-101). Similarly, while he filed a pretrial motion attacking the constitutionality of the CCP factor,

he included no attack upon the standard jury instruction thereupon (RI 110-136), although he had included a comparable attack upon the HAC instruction in his motion attacking that factor (RI 171-188). The record reflects that Bowles' counsel interposed contemporaneous objection to the standard instruction on vagueness grounds at the time of the charge conference (RX 1229-1245), and, while counsel had proposed an alternative instruction on this factor (RII 375), it cannot be said that such proposed instruction would satisfy the concerns now expressed by Bowles' appellate counsel; likewise, at the time that trial counsel presented argument as to this proposed instruction, he never advised the trial court that failing to utilize such would result in an unconstitutionally vague jury instruction (RV 921-922).

The purpose of the contemporaneous objection rule is, of course, to put the trial court on notice that an error may have been committed and to provide that court with an early opportunity to correct it. See Castor v. State, 365 So.2d 701, 703 (Fla. 1978). Here, no fair reading of the record would support the conclusion that Bowles put Judge Schemer "on notice" that he believed that the standard jury instruction on this aggravating circumstance was unconstitutionally vague, and, accordingly, Appellant has waived this point. See, e.g., Street v. State, 636 So.2d 1297, 1303 (Fla. 1994) (defendant did not preserve constitutional challenge to standard jury instruction where his proposed instruction was no better than that which he attacked);

Gamble v. State, 659 So.2d 242, 245 (Fla. 1995) (contemporaneous objection on vagueness grounds necessary to preserve claim that standard jury instruction on CCP aggravating factor unconstitutionally vague). In any event, this claim is without merit, see Walker, 22 Fla.L.Weekly at S543 (challenge to <u>Jackson</u> instruction rejected), and any error would be harmless under State v. DiGuilio, supra, given the other evidence in aggravation, the relatively insignificant evidence in mitigation, and the fact that the record contains substantial evidence in support of this aggravating factor. See, e.g., Banks, 22 Fla.L.Weekly at S522. No relief is warranted as to this claim, and the instant sentence of death should be affirmed in all respects.

Issue X

BOWLES LACKS STANDING TO ATTACK THE CONSTITUTIONALITY OF THE FELONY MURDER AGGRAVATING CIRCUMSTANCE

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